C.	Trial Court Erred in Denying Motion to Amend the Complaint
	1. Motion to Amend Standard of Review39
	2. Respondent's Failure to Object to New Evidence40
	3. If Respondent's Objection Was Proper, Amendment of the Complaint Was to Be Freely Granted41
	4. New Evidence Was Tried by Express or Implied Consent of the Parties43
	5. Relation Back Under CR 15(c) Is Proper46
	6. Trial Court Abused Its Discretion in Denying Amendment of the Complaint49
D.	Appellant Should Be Awarded Costs on Appeal50
CONC	CLUSION50

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Alexander v. County of Walla Walla, 84 Wn. App 687, 929 P.2d
1182 (1997)14
Am. Civil Liberties Union v. Blaine Sch. Dist. No. 503, 86 Wn.App. 688, 937 P.2d 1176 (1997)36
86 Wn. App. 688, 937 P.2d 1176 (1997)
Applicational Mathedo Tro - Dealt - F Description
<u>Analytical Methods, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue</u> , 84 Wn.App. 236, 244, 928 P.2d 1123 (1996)
230, 244, 926 P.20 1123 (1996)8
Augorinian v. First Currenty Penk 142 Mach 72 252 P
Augerinion v. First Guaranty Bank, 142 Wash. 73, 252 P.
535 (1927)17, 22, 30
Automat v. Yakima, 6 Wn. App. 991, 497 P.2d 617 (1972)26, 30
Adecide V. Takina, O WILAPP. 991, 497 P. 20 617 (1972)26, 30
Bacon v. Gardner, 38 Wn.2d 299, 229 P.2d 523 (1951)42
Dacon V. Gardier, 30 Wil. 20 299, 229 P. 20 323 (1931)42
Rartz v Dent of Corrections 173 Vm Apr. 522 207 D 24
Bartz v. Dept. of Corrections, 173 Wn.App. 522, 297 P.3d 737 (2013)
737 (2013)************************************
Rellevine John Does 1-11 v Rellevine Sch Diet 164 vm 24
Bellevue John Does 1-11 v. Bellevue Sch. Dist., 164 Wn.2d 199, 189 P.3d 139 (2008)
1994 109 1.30 139 (2000)
Campbell v. Royan Indem. Co, 256 Pa. Super. 312 (1978)21
Capello v. State, 114 Wn.App. 739, 60 P.3d 620 (2002)12
Caruso v. Local Union No. 690 of Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters.
Caruso v. Local Union No. 690 of Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters, 100 Wn.2d 343, 670 P.2d 240 (1983)
,
Christensen v. Ellsworth, 162 Wn.2d 365, 374 (2007)10, 12
Christnacht v. Department of Industry, Labor & Human Relations, 68 Wis.2d 445 (1975)22
Relations, 68 Wis.2d 445 (1975)22
Columbia Community Bank v. Newman Park, LLC, 177 Wn.2d 566,
569, 304 P.3d 472 (2013)
Concerned Ratepayers Ass'n v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1, 138 Wn.2d 950, 983 P.2d 635 (1999)
Wn.2d 950, 983 P.2d 635 (1999)

Condon v. Condon, 177 Wn.2d 150, 298 P.3d 86 (2013)36
Consolidated Motors, Inc. v. Newman, 29 Colo.App. 380
(1971)21
Cortor Vlocky v Norminan 162 th 3- 466 252 p 23 222
Cortez-Kloehm v. Morrison, 162 Wn. App. 166, 252 P.3d 909 (2011)
\~~`''\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\

Crownover v. State ex rel. Dep't of Transp., 165 Wn.App. 131, 265 P.3d 971 (2011)
Culinary Workers and Bartenders Union No. 596 Health and Welfare Trust v. Gateway Cafe, Inc., 91 Wn.2d 353, 588 P.2d 1334 (1979)
Culpepper v. Snohomish County Dep't of Planning and Community Dev., 59 Wn.App. 166, 796 P.2d 1285 (1990)49
Denny's Restaurants, Inc. v. Security Union Title Ins. Co., 71 Wn.App. 194, 859 P.2d 619 (1993)
Dewey v. Tacoma Sch. Dist. No. 10, 95 Wn. App. 18, 974 P.2d 847 (1999)
Discover Bank v. Bridges, 154 Wn.App. 722, 226 P.3d 191 (2010)
Emwright v. King County, 96 Wn.2d 538, 543, 637 P.2d 656 (1981),,,,
<u>Farrow v. Dept. of Labor & Indus.</u> , 179 Wash. 453, 38 P.2d 240 (1934)
Fleming v. Smith, 64 Wn.2d 181, 390 P.2d 990 (1964)28
Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 83 S.Ct. 227, 9 L.Ed.2d 222 (1962)
Gingrich v. Unigard Sec. Ins. Co., 57 Wn. App. 424, 788 P.2d 1096 (1990)
Good v. Detroit Auto. Inter. Insurance Exchange, 67 Mich.App. 270 (1976)
Goodin v. General Acci. Fire & Life Insur. Corp., 450 S.W.2d 252 (1970)
Gott w. Woody, 11 Wn. App. 504, 524 P.2d 454 (1974)9
Green v. Hooper, 149 Wn. App. 627, 205 P.3d 134 (2009)44
Greenhalgh v. State Dep't of Corrections, 170 Wn.App. 137, 282 P.3d 1175 (2012)
<u>Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound</u> , 110 Wn.2d 355, 753 P.2d 517 (1988)

<u>Hadley v. Cowan</u> , 60 Wn.App. 433, 804 P.2d 1271 (1991)33
<u>Hangartner v. City of Seattle</u> , 151 Wn.2d 439, 90 P.3d 26 (2004)
<pre>Harding v. Hill, 81 Wn.2d 132, 500 P.2d 91 (1972)43</pre>
Haslund v. City of Seattle, 86 Wn.2d 607, 547 P.2d 1221 (1976)
Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 580 P.2d 246 (1978)38
Herron v. Tribune Publishing Co., 108 Wn.2d 162, 736 P.2d 249 (1987)40
Hoffer v. State, 110 Wn.2d 415, 755 P.2d 781 (1988)35
Hwang v. McMahill, 103 Wn.App. 945, 954, 15 P.3d 172 (2000)
<u>In re Wash. Builders Ben. Trust</u> , 173 Wn.App. 34, 293 P.3d 1036 (2013)31
Johnson v. Department of Corrections, 164 Wn. App. 769, 265 P.3d 216 (2011)
Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical Corp. v. Department of Labor & Indust., 57 Wn.App. 886, 790 P.2d 1254 (1990)17, 18, 22
Kenco Enterprises N.W. LLC v. Wiese, 172 Wn.App. 607, 291 P.3d 261 (2013)
King County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 16 v. Hous. Auth. of King County, 123 Wn.2d 819, 826, 872 P.2d 516 (1994)8
Kubey v. Travelers Prot. Ass'n of America, 109 Wash. 453, 187 P. 335 (1920)
Lieb v. Webster, 30 Wn.2d 43, 190 P.2d 701 (1948)19, 26
Malloy v. Drumheller, 68 Wash. 106, 122 P. 1005 (1912)
Marquardt v. Federal Old Line Ins. Co., 30 Wn.App. 685, 658 P.2d 20 (1983)32
Marshall v. AC&S, Inc., 56 Wn.App. 181, 782 P.2d 1107 (1989)24

Maziorski v. Blair, 83 Wn.App. 835, 924 P.2d 409 (1996)46
Meadows v. Grant's Auto Brokers, Inc., 71 Wn.2d 874, 431 P.2d 216 (1967)
Mechling v. City of Monroe, 152 Wn.App. 830, 222 P.3d 808 (2009)
Melville v. State, 115 Wn.2d 34, 793 P.2d 952 (1990)24
Mohr v. Grantham, 172 Wn.2d 844, 262 P.3d 490 (2011)14
Mohr v. Universal C.I.T. Credit Corp., 216 Md. 197 (1958)22
Mukilteo Retirement Apartments, LLC v. Mukilteo Investors LP, 2013 WL 4432233
National Motors, Inc. v. Newman, 29 Colo.App. 380 (1971)21
Neuson's v. Macy's, 160 Wn.App. 786, 249 P.3d 1054 (2011)
Niesle v. Concrete Sch. Dist., 129 Wn. App. 632, 127 P.3d 713 (2005)
Ockerman v. King County Dep't of Dev. & Envt'l Servs., 102 Wn.App. 212, 6 P.3d 1214 (2000)
Olson v. The Bon, 144 Wn. App. 627, 183 P.3d 359 (2008).18, 22
Overton v. Consolidated Inc., 145 Wn.2d 417, 38 P.3d 322 (2002)
Owen v. Burlington N. Santa Fe R.R. Co., 153 Wn.2d 780, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005)14
Powell v. Viking Ins. Co., 44 Wn. App. 495, 722 P.2d 1343 (1986)
Protect the Peninsula's Future v. City of Port Angeles, 175 Wn.App. 201, 304 P.3d 914 (2013)
Quackenbush v. State, 72 Wn.2d 670, 434 P.2d 736 (1967)42
Reichelt v. John-Manville Corp., 107 Wn.2d 761, 733 P.2d 530 (1987)
Riley v. Andress, 107 Wn.App. 391, 27 P.3d 618 (2001)28

Santos v. Dean, 96 Wn. App. 849, 982 P.2d 632 (1999)29
Scheeler v. Dept. of Employment Security, 122 Wn.App. 484, 93 P.3d 965 (2004)
<u>Servais v. Port of Bellingham</u> , 127 Wn.2d 820, 904 P.2d 1124 (1995)
Seto v. American Elevator, Inc., 159 Wn.2d 767, 154 P.3d 189 (2007)
Sherman v. State, 128 Wn.2d 164, 905 P.2d 355 (1995)31
<u>Stansfield v. Douglas County</u> , 146 Wn.2d 116, 43 P.3d 498 (2002)
State v. Rowe, 93 Wn.2d 277, 609 P.2d 1348 (1980)35
<u>Stephens v. Gillispie</u> , 126 Wn.App. 375, 108 P.3d 1230 (2005)33
Stikes Woods Neighborhood Ass'n v. City of Lacy, 124 Wn.2d 459, 463, 880 P.2d 25 (1994)
<u>Tabor & Co. v. Gorenz</u> , 43 Ill.App.3d 124 (1976)22
Thomas v. French, 30 Wn.App. 811, 638 P.2d 613 (1981)43
Tobin v. Worden, 156 Wn.App. 507, 233 P.3d 906 (2010)15, 16
Tran v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co., 136 Wn.2d 214, 961 P.2d 358 (1998)
Vasquez v. Dept. of L & I, 44 Wn.App. 379, 383, 722 P.2d 854 (1986)
Viewpoint-North Stafford LLC v. CB Richard Ellis, Inc., 175 Wn.App. 189, 303 P.3d 1096 (2013)
Walla v. Johnson, 50 Wn. App. 879, 751 P.2d 334 (1988)49
Washington Professional Real Estate LLC v. Young, 163 Wn.App. 800, 260 P.3d 991 (2011)
Watson v. Emard, 165 Wn.App. 691, 702-03, 267 P.3d 1048
Western Reserve Oil & Gas v. New, 765 F.2d 1428 (9th Cir. 1985)

Wilson v. Horsley, 137 Wn.2d 500, 974 P.2d 316 (1999)40					
Winans v. W.A.S., Inc., 52 Wn.App. 89, 758 P.2d 503 (1988).43					
Woodward v. Lopez, 174 Wn.App. 460, 300 P.3d 417 (2013)25					
Young Soo Kim v. Choong-Hyun Lee, 174 Wn.App. 319, 300 P.3d 431 (2013)15					
Statutes and Codes					
King County Code 2.12.29034					
Revised Code of Washington 40.14.01024					
Revised Code of Washington 42.56.010(3)24					
Revised Code of Washington 42.56.08037					
Revised Code of Washington 42.56.52034					
Revised Code of Washington 42.56.550(1)37					
Revised Code of Washington 42.56.550(6)					
Washington Administrative Code 44-14-0300637					
Washington Administrative Code 44-14-04002(1)37					
Washington Administrative Code 44-14-0800134					
Public Records Actpassim					
Rules					
Washington State Court Rules, Civil Rule 5(b)(2)8, 11					
Washington State Court Rules, Civil Rule 6(e)passim					
Washington State Court Rules, Civil Rule 15(a)47					
Washington State Court Rules, Civil Rule 15(b)passim					
Washington State Court Rules, Civil Rule 15(c)46, 48					
Washington State Court Rules, Civil Rule 3424					
Washington State Court Rules, Civil Rule 56(c) passim					

Washington State Court Rules,	Civil Rule 55(e)23			
Washington State Court Rules,	RAP Title 1450			
Washington State Court Rules, N	RAP 18.150			
Washington State Court Rules, 1	Evidence Rule 60223			
Additional Authorities				
<pre>Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice Vol.14, §12:3845, 46</pre>				
Blacks Law Dictionary10				

INTRODUCTION

A party electing to employ the alternate means of service by mail of its reply on summary judgment must comply with the time requirements of both CR-56(c) and CR-6(e).

A requestor bringing a civil action against a state or local agency for violation of Washington's Public Records Act, chapter 42.56 RCW, has a period of one year to file suit, under RCW 42.56.550(6), from the time the agency last responds to the requestor's most recent follow-up request or from the date such request was submitted.

A court should not, as a matter of law, make a factual determination of a clearly identified follow-up records request, seeking a new class of records, by interpreting the request to impose consequences which are implicated by wording not mentioned in the document.

Where a plaintiff moves to amend the complaint, to conform to evidence tried by implied or express consent of the parties, such amendment shall be freely granted, and is virtually automatic, in the absence of a showing of specific prejudice to the nonmoving party that cannot be cured by a continuance.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error No. 1: The trial court erred in denying Mr. Kozol's motion to strike King County's untimely Reply on Summary Judgment and the supporting Second Declaration of Kristie Johnson.

Assignment of Error No. 2: The trial court erred in granting summary judgment dismissal of Mr. Kozol's claims that King County violated the Public Records Act, chapter 42.56 RCW.

Assignment of Error No. 3: The trial court erred in denying Mr. Kozol's motion to amend the complaint.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 1:

- <u>Issue 1.1</u>: Did Mr. Kozol have the right to do some act or take some further proceeding within the 5-calendar days prescribed by CR 56(c)?
- <u>Issue 1.2</u>: Does the filing of a motion to amend complaint and a motion to shorten time constitute a "further proceeding" under CR 6(e)?
- Issue 1.3: Is a party being served by mail with a moving party's reply on summary judgment entitled to have an additional 3 days, to act or take further proceedings under CR 6(e), to be added to the 5-day period prescribed by CR 56(c)?
- <u>Issue 1.4</u>: Is a bi-directional or a backwards-only counting method applied when computing the time periods in CR 56(c) and CR 6(e)?
- Issue 1.5: Is the interplay between the requirements of CR 56(c) and CR 6(e) vague and confusing so as to require judicial clarification?
- Issue 1.6: Did the trial court err in denying Mr. Kozol's motion to strike King County's Reply on summary judgment and the supporting Second Declaration of Kristie Johnson?

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 2:

? .

- Issue 2.1: Was the issue of the mailing and receipt of Mr. Kozol's May 22, 2011 follow-up request material to the decision on summary judgment?
- <u>Issue 2.2:</u> Did Mr. Kozol present sufficient evidence of mailing to invoke presumption of receipt?
- Issue 2.3: Was King County's evidence insufficient to rebut presumption of receipt of the May 22, 2011 follow-up request?
- <u>Issue 2.4</u>: Did a genuine issue of material fact preclude summary judgment?
- Issue 2.5: Did the trial court improperly determine, as a matter of law, that the May 27, 2011 follow-up request was not requesting any additional search or production of any additional documents?
- Issue 2.6: Did the trial court err in finding Mr. Kozol's May 22, 2011 follow-up records request to be analogous to the administrative appeal in Greenhalgh v. Department of Corrections, 170 Wn.App. 137 (2012), and therefore failed to toll the statute of limitations to file suit?
- <u>Issue 2.7</u>: Is a follow-up request materially different than an administrative appeal for purposes of calculating the statutory time limit for a requestor to commence an action under the Public Records Act?
- Issue 2.8: Under the Public Records Act, is an agency empowered to classify and/or treat a clearly identified follow-up request as an administrative appeal when it benefits the agency's litigation interests?

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error No. 3:

<u>Issue 3.1</u>: Was King County's failure to formally state an objection to the May 22, 2011 follow-up letter a waiver of its right to object?

Issue 3.2: If King County did properly object to the May 22, 2011 follow-up letter, was amendment under CR 15(b) nevertheless to be allowed "freely" to present the merits of the action?

Issue 3.3: Was the issue of the May 22, 2011 followup letter tried by express or implied consent of the parties, resulting in virtually automatic amendment under CR 15(b)?

<u>Issue 3.4</u>: Did King County establish prejudice sufficient to preclude amendment of the complaint that could not be cured by granting a continuance?

<u>Issue 3.5</u>: Should the requested amendment be permitted to relate back pursuant to CR 15(c)?

Issue 3.6: Did the trial court err in denying Mr. Kozol's motion to amend the complaint to conform to the evidence pursuant to CR 15(b)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In March 2009, a person confessed to committing the crimes Mr. Kozol has been wrongfully convicted of and incarcerated for since November 2000. In this confession, it was revealed that the assailant had lost a wristwatch at the crime scene while struggling with the victim. Clerk's Papers (CP) at 115.

Neither Mr. Kozol nor his trial attorney had been informed prior to trial that the police had seized this watch at the crime scene. CP 115. Through new counsel, Mr. Kozol inquired to the King County Prosecuting Attorney's Office (KCPAO) if such a watch existed. Upon acknowledgment by the KCPAO that the watch did exist, Mr. Kozol requested complete forensic testing of the watch, and of the original

confession letter and envelope. The KCPAO agreed to conduct full forensic testing of this new evidence. CP 116.

٠.

After waiting approximately one year Mr. Kozol was finally informed by the KCPAO that testing revealed zero fingerprint or DNA evidence on the watch, confession letter and envelope. Upon Mr. Kozol's submission of several letters challenging the truthfulness of the KCPAO's assertions, the County responded by refusing to conduct any further investigation into this matter. CP 116.

Mr. Kozol then submitted Public Records Act requests to the KCPAO for all documents related to the watch, including forensic testing allegedly conducted. The KCPAO only produced 5 pages of records and claimed no other responsive records existed. The KCPAO did not provide any records on an installment basis or claim any exemptions from production. CP 116-117.

Mr. Kozol submitted a follow-up records request to the KCPAO dated May 22, 2011, requesting a further comprehensive search be conducted and that all records in the KCPAO's case file No. 00-1-09050-8KNT be provided.

CP 136. Having received no reply, Mr. Kozol filed a civil complaint in Pierce County Superior Court on March 7, 2012, CP 78-79, and a First Amended Complaint on June 6, 2012.

CP 90-91.

Over the next year, in responding to Mr. Kozol's interrogatories and requests for production, the KCPAO identified and produced additional documents responsive to Mr. Kozol's first two PRA requests. CP 107-108. The court granted Mr. Kozol's motion to set a trial date, which was opposed by the County.

On August 7, 2013, the County moved for summary judgment and dismissal, claiming Mr. Kozol's action was time-barred pursuant to the new ruling in <u>Bartz v. Department of Corrections</u>, 173 Wn.App. 522, 297 P.3d 737 (2013). CP 92-96. In response, Mr. Kozol argued the mailing of his May 22, 2011 follow-up request extended the time under RCW 42.56.550(6) for him to bring suit, thus rendering <u>Bartz</u> inapplicable. CP 101. Supporting this response was the sworn declaration of Isabelle Sanabria, an independent third-party who had photocopied the May 22, 2011 follow-up request prior to mailing it to the KCPAO for Mr. Kozol on May 25, 2011. CP 111-114.

In its reply, the County argued it had not received the May 22, 2011 follow-up request. CP 224. In support of its reply, the County filed the Second Declaration of Kristie Johnson, the former public records officer who attested to not recalling having received the May 22, 2011 request, and that there was no indication, in unidentified locations, of the request being received. CP 231-232.

At oral argument, Mr. Kozol moved to strike the County's reply on summary judgment and the second Johnson declaration as untimely served. Report of Proceedings (RP) 1, at 5-6. The motion was denied. RP1, at 7. The County argued that the May 22nd letter was not presented in the pleadings, RP1, at 10, and that under Greenhalgh v. WDOC, 170 Wn.App. 137 (2012), Mr. Kozol's May 22nd letter was more akin to an administrative appeal, thus rendering Mr. Kozol's suit as time-barred. RP1, at 11-12. Mr. Kozol argued the County's evidence of non-receipt of the letter was insufficient to support summary judgment, RP1, at 12-16, and argued his clearly labeled follow-up request was materially distinguishable from the administrative appeal at issue in Greenhalgh, and was instead identical to the follow-up request in Johnson v. WDOC, 164 Wn. App. 769 (2011). RP1, at 17-18.

The court granted summary judgment dismissal, finding the May 22nd letter analogous to Greenhalgh, and Mr. Kozol's suit thus to be time-barred. RP1, at 20-21. Mr. Kozol moved for reconsideration and filed a motion to amend. CP 249-261, 264-270. The court further determined, as a matter of law, that the May 22nd letter was analogous to the appeal in Greenhalgh. RP2, at 8. Without comment or explanation the court denied the motion to amend. CP 297-298. This timely appeal ensues.

The Verbatim Report of Proceedings dated September 6, 2013 and October 11, 2013 are designated as RP1 and RP2, respectively.

ARGUMENT

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