# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STEVEN P. KOZOL,

Appellant,

v.

KING COUNTY,

Respondent.

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR PIERCE COUNTY THE HONORABLE STEPHANIE A. AREND

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DAVID J. ELDRED Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Appellant

> King County Prosecuting Attorney King County Administration Building 500 Fourth Avenue, Suite 900 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-8820

###

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

A party may serve another party by U.S. Mail. CR 5(b)(2).

Service by mail is effective on the third day after placing the pleading in the mail unless the third day falls on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday.

Id. The defendant's reply was placed into the mail on Friday, August 30<sup>th</sup>. CP 230. The third day following that was Monday, September 2<sup>nd</sup>. Since the third day was a legal holiday, service was effective the next day.

Service was therefore effective on Tuesday, September 3<sup>rd</sup>. This is the

same day that the reply was due. Mr. Kozol's argument that the reply was untimely is wrong.

Mr. Kozol posits that CR 6(e) changes this calculation. CR 6(e) provides: "[w]henever a party has the right or is required to do some act or take some proceedings within a prescribed period after the service of a notice or other paper upon him and the notice or paper is served upon him by mail, 3 days shall be added to the prescribed period." On its face, CR 6(e) is the corollary of CR 5(b)(2). Thus, even assuming that Mr. Kozol had a right or was required to do some act after the county served its reply, CR 6(e) provided three days concurrent with the three days already provided for service by mail under CR 5(b)(2)(A).

It makes sense that because a document will take approximately three days to arrive in the mail, a party should get that time either to file a pleading (CR 5(b)(2)) or to extend another deadline following notice (CR 6(e)). However, there is no logical reason for the two rules to operate to double that time to six days.

Mr. Kozol disagrees, arguing that the two three-day periods are cumulative. According to Mr. Kozol he was entitled to an additional six days from the date of the County's mailing in which to submit any required response or do an act. Mr. Kozol cites to no authority for his

interpretation of the rules and King County has found no authority regarding this issue.

Regardless of whether CR 5 and CR 6 provide concurrent or cumulative time, Mr. Kozol's position that the County's Reply should have been stricken still fails for many reasons. First, the remedy, if any, would have been a continuance of the hearing. Second, Mr. Kozol did not comply with his own proposed rule in serving his Response on the County by mail. Therefore, under Mr. Kozol's own theory, the County was entitled to three additional days under CR 6(e). Third, there is no prejudice because Mr. Kozol had ample opportunity to make his legal and factual arguments both at the summary judgment hearing and subsequently on his motion for reconsideration following the dismissal of his complaint.

### a. Appropriate Remedy.

Rather than seeking a continuance of the hearing, Mr. Kozol suggests that the County needed to have mailed its Reply brief earlier. He therefore sought to have the County's Reply stricken. However, on its face, CR 6(e) gives a party an additional three days to "do some act or take some proceedings" after notice by mail. The rule does not require the party serving by mail to deposit its pleadings into the mail three days

earlier. Thus, the remedy under CR 6(e) would be additional time to do the requested act, not to strike the opposing parties pleading.

b. Mr. Kozol Did Not Comply With His Own Rule.

Mr. Kozol fails to acknowledge that his Response was deposited into the mail on August 23<sup>rd</sup>, 2013. CP 110, Supp. CP \_\_\_ (Dec of Service by Kozol on 8/23). Thus service of his own Response was effective three days later on Monday, August 26<sup>th</sup> pursuant to CR 5(b)(2)(A). However, Mr. Kozol did not add a second three-day period to make service timely under his CR 6(e) theory. Therefore, according to Mr. Kozol's CR 6(e) theory, King County had the right to add an additional three days to the deadline for its Reply to the time allowed by CR 56. This would have made King County's Reply due on Wednesday, August 4<sup>th</sup>, a full day after service of the Reply was actually effective on Mr. Kozol.

c. Mr. Kozol Had Ample Opportunity To Make His Arguments At The Summary Judgment Hearing And At The Reconsideration Hearing.

Mr. Kozol was not prejudiced in his ability to argue the summary judgment motion. Mr. Kozol challenged the key legal and factual arguments presented by King County at the summary judgment hearing.

RP1 12-19. Moreover, he filed a lengthy motion for reconsideration after

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In reality, Mr. Kozol's response did not arrive until August 27<sup>th</sup>. RP1 7, Supp CP \_\_\_\_. (Dec of Eldred re Motion to Shorten Time).

having an additional six days to formulate arguments and provide the trial court with authority. CP 247-48 (Summary Judgment Order) and CP 249-63 (Motion for Reconsideration).

# 3. MR. KOZOL'S ATTEMPT TO AMEND THE COMPLAINT WAS PROPERLY REJECTED.

Mr. Kozol argues that the trial court should have amended his complaint to conform to the evidence pursuant to CR 15(b).<sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals reviews a trial court's denial of leave to amend a complaint for an abuse of discretion. *Rodriguez v. Loudeye Corp.*, 144 Wash.App. 709, 728–29, 189 P.3d 168 (Div. 1 2008). A court abuses its discretion if its decision is not based on tenable grounds or tenable reasons. *Haselwood v. Bremerton Ice Arena, Inc.*, 137 Wash.App. 872, 889–90, 155 P.3d 952 (Div. 2 2007), *aff'd*, 166 Wash.2d 489, 210 P.3d 308 (2009).

Mr. Kozol first claims that a trial court's failure to announce its reasoning in denying a motion to amend is an automatic abuse of discretion, citing *Walla v. Johnson*, 50 Wash.App. 879, 883, 751 P.2d 334 (Div. 1 1988) *and*, *Watson v. Emard*, 165 Wash.App. 691, 702-03, 267 P.3d 1048 (Div. 2 2011). Neither case requires such a result. In *Walla*, the Court of Appeals noted that the trial court did not announce the reason

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This argument was made both in the motion for reconsideration and in a separate motion to amend pursuant to CR 15(b). These motions were made after summary judgment was granted. Mr. Kozol did not make an oral or a written motion to amend prior to summary judgment. CP1 20.

for its denial of the motion to amend. 50 Wash.App. at 883.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals went on to analyze the potential grounds for the trial court decision. *Id.* Similarly, in *Watson*, the Court of Appeals noted that a trial court's failure to explain its reason for denying leave to amend *may* amount to an abuse of discretion *unless the reasons* for denying the motion are apparent in light of circumstances shown in the record. 165 Wash.App., at 688-89 (emphasis added), citing Rodriguez v. Loudeye Corp., 144 Wash.App., 709, 729, 189 P.3d 168 (Div. 1 2008).

Similarly, an appellate court reviewing a discretionary order or judgment of the trial court will not reverse it merely because the trial court gave the wrong reason for its rendition. *Ertman v. City of Olympia*, 95 Wash.2d 105, 107-08, 621 P.2d 724 (1980). The rule is often stated as: the appellate court may affirm on any grounds supported by the record. In this case, there is a written record indicating the arguments presented by the parties and there is no difficulty determining the reasons the trial court denied the motion to amend or finding a basis to affirm the trial court's decision.

Mr. Kozol sought to amend the complaint to conform to the evidence pursuant to CR 15(b). CP 252-53 (Motion for Reconsideration). He claimed that the County allowed the evidence of the May 22, 2011 to be presented without objection. In essence, Mr. Kozol suggests that by

raising the letter for the first time just days before the summary judgment hearing, his complaint was automatically amended. However, not only did King County object to the May 22, 2011 letter on the grounds that it was never received, but the County objected to the failure to plead anything about the letter and asserted this objection as an explicit basis for summary judgment. RP1 19-20; CP 226-27. Amendments to conform to the evidence pursuant to CR 15(b) are improper when a party objects to the evidence. Rainier National Bank v. Lewis, 30 Wash.App. 419, 423, 635 P.2d 153 (Div. 1 1981). Mr. Kozol asserts that Denny's Restaurants, Inc. v. Security Union Title Ins. Co. requires a different result. In that case, however, there was apparently no objection to the evidence on the grounds that the issue had not been pled. Instead, according to the Court of Appeals, the parties litigated it on summary judgment and the defendant only "point[ed] out that the issue had not yet been pleaded." 71 Wash.App. 194, 213-14, 859 P.2d 619 (Div. 1 1993) (emphasis added).

The proper method for amending the complaint to add such a theory would have been by motion pursuant to CR 15(a), which Mr. Kozol did not make prior to summary judgment (RP1 at 20) and which he did not seek on reconsideration. CP 249-63. Even assuming that a motion pursuant to CR 15(a) had been made, it was well within the trial court's discretion to deny such a motion. When, as here, a motion to amend is

made shortly before or after the adverse granting of summary judgment, the normal course of proceedings is disrupted and the trial court should consider whether the motion could have been timely made earlier in the litigation. *Doyle v. Planned Parenthood of Seattle-King County, Inc.*, 31 Wash.App. 126, 130-31, 639 P.2d 240 (Div. 1 1982); *see also, Wallace v. Lewis County*, 134 Wash.App. 1, 25-26, 137 P.3d 101 (Div. 2 2006) (denial of motion to amend proper where party waited to file an amended complaint until shortly before a dispositive summary judgment hearing, despite previously having had over a year to seek such an amendment); *and see, Trust Fund Services v. Glasscar, Inc.*, 19 Wash.App. 736, 745, 577 P.2d 980 (Div. 1 1978) (A motion to amend is not incidental to a motion for summary judgment and, when made in the course of summary judgment consideration, is an "untimely attempt to insert a new circumstance into the proceedings too late in the game").

According to Mr. Kozol, he was aware of the May 22, 2011 letter when he sent it. CP 117-18. He was also aware that he never received a response. CP 118. This is because the County never received it. CP 60-62. He had in his possession all of the facts necessary to plead a cause of action related to the letter when he filed the Complaint and the Amended Complaint in this matter. He similarly had those facts throughout the year

this litigation had been pending. Amendment under CR 15(a) was therefore untimely.

Further, amendment of the complaint pursuant to either CR 15(a) or (b) would have been inappropriate because such an amendment would be futile. A trial court may refuse to grant leave to amend when the leave would be futile. *Protect the Peninsula's Future v. City of Port Angeles*, 175 Wash.App. 201, 214, 304 P.3d 914 (Div. 2 2013). Mr. Kozol's proposed amendment is futile because, as the trial court determined and this Court should find, the May 22, 2011 letter did not change the date the statute of limitations began to run. *Greenhalgh*, 170 Wash.App., at 152-55.

Finally, the proposed amendment cannot relate back to the date of the filing of the Complaint and Amended Complaint and would therefore be time barred. CR 15(c) allows an amendment to relate back to the date of the original pleading "[w]henever the claim or defense asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleading. . . ." An amendment stating a time-barred new cause of action is not allowed where the amendment involves a separate event occurring at a different time. Herron v. KING Broadcasting Co., 109 Wash.2d, at 521 (Relation back was not possible because the five-o'clock and eleven o'clock broadcasts of

the same news story were separate occurrences under the law of defamation. Failure to plead the 11 o'clock occurrence could not be cured by amendment).

This Court has determined that each written request for records is separate for purposes of determining the applicable statute of limitations. *Greenhalgh*, 170 Wash.App., at 148-49 (each letter containing multiple requests for records was one request for purposes of applying the statute of limitations).

Here, Mr. Kozol asserts that he made a third request on May 22, 2011 and commenced this action within one year of that request. The amendment sought to add this letter to the complaint and thereby cure the failure to comply with the statute of limitations. Indeed, Mr. Kozol's own theory is that the May 22<sup>nd</sup> letter was a separate request triggering a new statute of limitations period.<sup>3</sup> Appellant's Opening Brief at 32. If so, amendment of the complaint is barred under *Herron* because it would be a separate occurrence which cannot relate back to the original filing under CR 15(c). *Herron*, 109 Wash.2d at 521.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In fact, Mr. Kozol claims that the May 22<sup>nd</sup> letter expanded his original narrow request related to watches to the entire criminal prosecution file. Appellant's Opening Brief at 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Unlike Mr. Kozol, the County does not believe that the purported May 22<sup>nd</sup> 2011 letter was a request for records at all. Thus, under the County's theory the amendment would be futile since the letter cannot serve to extend the statute of limitations under *Greenhalgh's other holding*, 170 Wash.App., at 152-55. Either way amendment was properly denied.

Because the motion to amend did not conform to the evidence under CR 15(a), was untimely and either futile under CR 15(b) or could not relate back to the filing of the original complaint under CR 15(c), the trial court did not err in denying the amendment.

# 4. FEES AND COSTS ON APPEAL ARE INAPPROPRIATE BECAUSE MR. KOZOL IS NOT THE PREVAILING PARTY.

Mr. Kozol seeks fees and costs associated with this appeal. The Public Records Act provides for fees and costs for a party who prevails in an action seeking to obtain public records. RCW 42.56.550(4). However, Mr. Kozol is not yet the prevailing party, regardless of the outcome of this appeal. This is because, at most, this case could be returned to the trial court for further proceedings which will determine the prevailing part. This Court should deny Mr. Kozol's request for fees and costs in this appeal.

### E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The summary judgment granted by the trial court should be affirmed. Mr. Kozol's Complaint is barred by the statute of limitations

because it was filed more than one year after King County's last response to him.

DATED this  $\underline{/7}^{\mu\nu}$  day of March, 2014.

RESPECTFULLY submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG Prosecuting Attorney

By:

DAVID J. ELDRED, WSBA 26125 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for the Respondent WSBA Office #91002